#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# OTO, LLC, AN ARIZONA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, DBA ONE TOYOTA OF OAKLAND, ONE SCION OF OAKLAND.

Plaintiff and Appellant.

v.

KEN KHO,

CRC 8.25(b)

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 1 4 2018

Defendant and Respondent, Real Party in Interest,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

V.

Deputy

JULIE A. SU IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA LABOR COMMISSIONER, DIVISION OF LABOR STANDARDS ENFORCEMENT, DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Intervenor and Appellant.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 1 CASE NO. A147564

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether, in light of this Court's decision in *Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc.*v. Moreno (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1109 (Sonic II), holding that any arbitration agreement must be "accessible and affordable," a procedurally unconscionable arbitration provision is also substantively unconscionable where it removes the protections and advantages of the Berman hearings and it also imposes all heightened obligations of civil litigation which significantly burdens individual wage claimants?

The Labor Commissioner has presented a second issue: "[W]hether mere notice of an arbitration agreement on the same day the Berman process is to commence divests the Labor Commissioner's jurisdiction to proceed with the Berman process[?]"

Plaintiff and Appellant OTO, LLC, dba One Toyota of Oakland, One Scion of Oakland ("OTO"), in its Combined Answer to Petitions for Review, has raised the related issue of whether the Labor Commissioner should have proceeded with the Berman hearing when presented with a filed Petition to Compel Arbitration and whether the Labor Commissioner violated OTO's "right to a fair administrative hearing (Berman hearing) ... where the Labor Commissioner conducted the Berman hearing in the absence of the employer ...."

#### II. INTRODUCTION

California, through its Constitution, statutes, regulations, Industrial
Welfare Commission wage orders, and various state agencies, has long
protected workers and their wages. It has further tilted enforcement of
those provisions so as to advantage the worker over an employer who does

not comply. This Court has repeatedly addressed substantive and procedural enforcement issues under California's wage and hour laws and other laws that are protective of the rights of workers in California. It has repeatedly confirmed that the laws regulating the workplace are to be interpreted liberally in favor of employees.

This case involves the Berman statues, which provide a comprehensive scheme of wage enforcement procedures, described more thoroughly below. Consistent with this Court's nomenclature, we use the term "Berman statutes" to refer to the entire statutory scheme. (See Lab. Code, § 98. 1) We refer to the administrative hearing before a Deputy Labor Commissioner as the "Berman hearing."

On several occasions, most recently in *Sonic II*, this Court has reaffirmed the importance of the Berman statutes to the long history and purpose of protecting workers' interests. The Court in *Iskanian v. CLS Transportation* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348 (*Iskanian*) reinforced this finding by recognizing the Legislature's intent to create additional remedies for the enforcement of many laws found in the Labor Code.

This case again presents to the Court a critical issue impacting the viability of Berman statutes and the Berman hearing. The Court is faced with addressing the extent to which an employer can implement an arbitration procedure that is designed to eliminate employees' access to the Berman hearing and substantially reduce the effectiveness of the Berman

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Labor Code unless otherwise indicated.

statutes. The Arbitration Agreement at issue tilts the entire scheme substantially in favor of the employer.

California's wage and hour laws and other provisions of the Labor

Code are far too important to permit this effort to undermine those
enforcement procedures through eroding employees' access to them. Such
an effort contravenes California's long-standing recognition that state
employment laws are to be construed in a manner protective to workers.

The Legislature has recognized the common problem of Wage Theft<sup>2</sup> and
has enacted many provisions to protect workers' wages and other statutory
rights in the workplace.

In this brief, we reemphasize this Court's findings in *Sonic II* (relying on many previous cases) as to the importance and value of the Berman statutes, including the Berman hearing. We then describe in detail how, as this case and other sources exemplify, there are numerous proemployee features of a Berman hearing that protect the Claimant before the Labor Commissioner and safeguard the Claimant's access and ability to enforce his or her rights arising under the Labor Code. This protective treatment extends to the trial de novo and other procedures provided for in the Berman statutes.

We then analyze OTO's Arbitration Agreement to show how it tilts the enforcement procedures dramatically in favor of the employer and against the interests of the Claimant. We then demonstrate how the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 2810.5. (Assem. Bill No. 469 (2011-2012 Reg. Sess.) § 1 ["Wage Theft Prevention Act of 2011"].)

Arbitration Agreement is substantively unconscionable on additional grounds.

We conclude by showing that the Arbitration Agreement contradicts the very principles of the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq.) ("FAA"), and that it undermines over 175 years of California law meant to "foster, promote, and develop the welfare of the wage earners of California, to improve their working conditions, and to advance their opportunities for profitable employment." (Lab. Code, § 50.5.)

#### III. APPLICABLE STATUTES

Attached as Appendix A is a copy of Labor Code sections 98, 98.1 and 98.2, which are the primary statutes at issue. The Policies and Procedures for Wage Claim Processing are found at LC165-168 in the Labor Commissioner's Request for Judicial Notice ("RJN"), Exhibit 20 ("Policies and Procedures").

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

There are no factual disputes. The disputed Arbitration Agreement is attached as an exhibit to the Opinion. It is in small font and hard to read. (See *OTO*, *L.L.C. v. Kho* (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 691, 717-718.) It is densely written in legalese. This obfuscation was part of OTO's purpose, which rendered the Agreement procedurally unconscionable and contributes to its substantive unconscionability. The following description is adopted largely from the Opinion below.

These are referred to in prior Opinions of this Court as issued by the Department of Labor Standards Enforcement, which is now the Department of Industrial Relations.

Petitioner and Real Party in Interest Ken Kho ("Kho") worked as an auto mechanic for OTO from January 2010 through April 2014, when his employment was summarily terminated. He was employed as a flat rate mechanic, meaning that he was paid for each job based on an estimated number of hours and his wage rate. He was not an hourly employee, and much of his wage claim involved the failure to receive pay for all time worked and overtime. Several months after his discharge, in October 2014, Kho filed a wage claim with the Labor Commissioner. (Clerk's Transcript ("CT") 9.)

In November 2014, Kho and OTO participated in an unsuccessful Settlement Conference initiated by the Labor Commissioner and mediated by a Deputy Labor Commissioner. The parties continued settlement discussions for the following month, until, in mid-December, OTO requested that the Labor Commissioner's office forward a proposed settlement agreement to Kho. After Kho decided not to accept the offer, he requested a statutory "Berman hearing" on his claim.

On January 30, 2015, the Labor Commissioner notified OTO of Kho's request, and in March the hearing was scheduled for August. (CT 8.)

On the morning of the Berman hearing, a Monday, OTO's attorney faxed a letter to the Labor Commissioner's office requesting that the hearing be taken off calendar because OTO had filed a Petition to Compel Arbitration and Stay the Administrative Proceedings ("Petition") on the prior Friday in the Alameda County Superior Court. By return fax, the Labor Commissioner's office informed counsel that the hearing would proceed as scheduled. At the noticed time, counsel for OTO appeared,

served Kho with the Petition, and left. OTO chose not to participate in the hearing. The Hearing Officer proceeded with the hearing in OTO's absence and shortly after issued a detailed "Order, Decision, or Award" ("ODA") finding that Kho was entitled to \$102,912 in unpaid wages and \$55,634 in liquidated damages, interest, and penalties. (CT 67-76.)

OTO thereafter sought de novo review of the ODA in the trial court pursuant to section 98.2 by filing an appeal and posting the requisite cash bond to secure payment of the award to protect Kho. At the same time, OTO supplemented its Petition with the filing of a motion to vacate the ODA. By stipulation, the Labor Commissioner was allowed to intervene in the trial court proceedings.

The trial court denied the employer's Petition. The trial court found that there was "a high level of procedural unconscionability connected with the execution of the arbitration agreement in this case." (OTO, L.L.C. v. Kho, supra, 14 Cal.App.5th at p. 701.) The trial court also vacated the ODA and remanded to the Labor Commissioner to hold a further hearing on OTO's theory that it was prejudiced because the Hearing Officer went forward in its absence.

The Court of Appeal affirmed the finding of the trial court in strong language that Kho's signing of the Arbitration Agreement was procedurally unconscionable given the forceful manner in which he was required to sign as "a condition of his employment." (OTO, L.L.C. v. Kho, supra, 14 Cal.App.5th at p. 708.) "The circumstances of Kho's execution of the Agreement demonstrated a high degree of oppression." (Ibid.) "For these

reasons, we conclude that the degree of procedural unconscionability was extraordinarily high." (*Id.* at p. 709.)

The court below, however, found that the Arbitration Agreement was not substantively unconscionable and reversed the trial court, vacated the ODA and remanded for purposes of compelling arbitration.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. THE BERMAN STATUTES PROCESS

The case hinges on whether OTO's Arbitration Agreement respected the command of this Court that an arbitration procedure can supplant the Berman statutes only if it is "accessible and affordable." This Court has addressed this issue now twice within the last seven years. Our brief then relies in part on quotations from this Court's prior Opinions recognizing the value of the Berman statutes.

In Sonic II, this Court described the Berman statutes process, quoting in large part from Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno (2011) 51 Cal.4th 659 (Sonic I), judg. vacated and cause remanded (2011) 565 U.S. 973. This Court summarized the Berman statutes process in these words: "[W]e explained [in Sonic I] how Berman hearings and related statutory protections benefit employees with wage claims against their employers ...." (Sonic II, supra, 57 Cal.4th at p. 1127.) The Court went on at length to describe the process in its Opinion. This Court enumerated and summarized the major benefits to employees throughout the process established in the Berman statutes. (Id. at pp. 1129-1130.) We explain those benefits more fully below, Part D(3), infra.

In summary, this Court has forcefully recognized the important features of the Berman statutes that assist wage claimants in bringing their claims to collect unpaid wages.<sup>4</sup>

#### B. KHO'S USE OF THE BERMAN HEARING PROCESS

When Kho was hired, he signed documents in a hurry, without reading them. He was not provided a copy.<sup>5</sup> He worked as a technician until he was summarily terminated, allegedly because of an issue over a repair order. (CT 120.) When Kho was hired, there was no reference to any arbitration provision until he was forced to summarily sign it. (CT 109.)

Kho has limited English proficiency as a Chinese immigrant whose first language is Chinese. (CT 109.) He had limited opportunity to review those initial documents, and he signed them in less than 10 minutes. (CT 109.)

After working more than three years at the dealership, a "Porter," who was actually a Human Resources Representative, approached Kho at his work station and asked him to sign some additional work-related documents on February 23, 2013. Kho was asked to sign those documents and return them immediately. (CT 109.) One of those documents was the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Labor Commissioner has a broader jurisdiction than wage claims. Kho's case involves only wages and the associated penalties and interest, but this Court's decision will have an effect upon additional matters brought before the Labor Commissioner that may not exclusively involve the payment of wages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> He would have been entitled to a copy under California law if he had known to ask for it. (See § 432.) Section 2810.5 became effective January 1, 2012, after Kho was hired, requiring employers to provide a notice of an employee's employment conditions. Kho would have been entitled to a notice of the implementation of the new compensation plan. (CT 115-116.)

Arbitration Agreement at issue in this case and is in 7-point font. (CT 48-49.)

Kho was not excused from his work, nor was he allowed sufficient time to thoroughly review the small font-sized documents provided to him. He was not given the opportunity to come into the Human Resources office to review the documents or seek an explanation. He was simply told that he had to sign. (CT 109.) Kho was not provided a copy of the documents, and he was not advised in any respect that he was forfeiting his rights to a Berman hearing and agreeing to this arbitration procedure. (CT 109.)

A year-and-a-half later, Kho was summarily terminated on May 2, 2014. (CT 110, 120.) Obviously unaware that he had entered into an arbitration agreement, Kho filed a wage claim at the Labor Commissioner's office against OTO on October 9, 2014. (CT 110.) A blank copy of the current claim form, known as the "Initial Report or Claim," is found in Exhibit 20, LC132-135 of the RJN. Kho had the assistance of the Labor Commissioner in filling out the claim form. (CT 110-111.) Such assistance is available to any claimant filing claims with the Labor Commissioner's office.

Eight days after Kho filed the wage claim, on October 17, 2014, the Labor Commissioner sent a Notice of Claim and Conference to OTO and to Kho, setting a Settlement Conference for November 10, 2014. On that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The record does not contain Kho's claim form. The Complaint, which is issued by the Deputy Labor Commissioner, sets out the issues and the remedy sought. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 13501.5; RJN LC187-188.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As we explain later, and should be obvious, if forced to proceed with arbitration, Kho would not have the assistance of the employer or a retired Superior Court Judge to fill out the claim form or to draft the pleadings that are required by OTO's Arbitration Agreement.

date, both OTO and Kho showed up. OTO was represented by counsel, and Kho represented himself. Through the assistance of the Labor Commissioner, OTO and Kho attempted to resolve the dispute, but they were not successful.

The Labor Commissioner assisted further efforts to resolve the dispute by transmitting to Kho a proposed settlement offer from OTO, which Kho rejected. (CT 110, 123 and 129.)

On March 26, 2015, the Labor Commissioner sent out a Notice of Hearing, notifying OTO and Kho that a hearing would be held before a Hearing Officer on August 17, 2015, at 1:00 p.m. This Notice of Hearing was delivered both to OTO's agent and its counsel. (CT 134 and 136.) OTO did not request any continuance of that hearing. The Notice included the Complaint signed by Kho, which set out the issues for the Berman hearing. (CT 52.)

On the Friday before the Monday hearing date, OTO filed its Petition in Alameda County Superior Court. (CT 1-13.)

Shortly after 9:00 a.m. on Monday, August 17, the date of the scheduled hearing, OTO faxed a letter with a copy of its court filing to the Labor Commissioner and concurrently requested that the hearing scheduled for 1:00 p.m. that day be taken off calendar until completion of the arbitration process. (CT 41 and 124.)

The Labor Commissioner rejected that request and immediately informed OTO that the hearing would not be taken off calendar and would proceed as scheduled at 1:00 p.m. (CT 124 and 146-147.) The Labor

Commissioner also advised OTO that it could raise the issue of the Arbitration Agreement at any trial de novo if it appealed.

The Labor Commissioner then held the scheduled hearing. OTO appeared solely for the purpose of serving Kho with a copy of its filed Petition. The Labor Commissioner informed OTO that there was no order requiring the Labor Commissioner to stay its proceedings before the Hearing Officer. (CT 69, fn. 1.) OTO's counsel left and did not participate.

After hearing evidence, on August 25, 2015, the Hearing Officer issued an ODA that was served on Kho and OTO on August 31, 2015. (CT 66-75.) The Hearing Officer, acting as the Labor Commissioner, determined that the employer did not properly compensate Kho for all hours worked and awarded him \$102,912 for wages; \$30,208 in liquidated damages; \$17,506.21 in interest; and \$7,920 in waiting time penalties.

As permitted by the Labor Code, OTO filed a de novo appeal of the Labor Commissioner's ODA on September 15, and on the next day filed a motion to vacate the ODA.

After various hearings, the trial court denied OTO's Petition.

(CT 207-223.) The trial court found that the Arbitration Agreement was both procedurally and substantively unconscionable. (CT 222.) On the other hand, the trial court vacated the ODA and remanded the matter to the Labor Commissioner's office for another hearing, finding that OTO had been deprived of a fair hearing because even though it showed up at the hearing and left, the hearing should have been postponed.

The Court of Appeals agreed with the Labor Commissioner with respect to OTO's Arbitration Agreement, "that the degree of procedural unconscionability was extraordinarily high." (OTO, L.L.C. v. Kho, supra, 14 Cal.App.5th at p. 709.) The Court, however, concluded that the Agreement was not substantively unconscionable. (Ibid.) This Court then granted review and also granted review in the related Petition for Review of the Labor Commissioner.

# C. THE COURT BELOW FOUND THAT THE AGREEMENT WAS PROCEDURALLY UNCONSCIONABLE

The court below found the "circumstances of Kho's execution of the Agreement demonstrated a high degree of oppression." (OTO, L.L.C. v. Kho, supra, 14 Cal.App.5th at p. 708.) Kho was given limited time to sign (but not even to read) the Arbitration Agreement. This was found to be "highly unconscionable." OTO does not challenge that critical finding

The circumstance underlying Kho's signing of OTO's Arbitration
Agreement is also unconscionable for another reason related to Kho's
employment as a mechanic. As a flat rate mechanic, his employment
agreement provided he would be paid only for each job performed.

(CT 115-116.) Thus, any time he took to review the Agreement resulted in
unpaid time.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See section 226.2, effective January 1, 2016 (requiring payment for unallocated time for employees paid on a piece rate).

#### D. THIS COURT MEANT WHAT IT SAID IN SONIC II

# 1. The Berman Procedures Provide Benefits and Protections That the Arbitration Process Eliminates

In Sonic II, this Court extensively addressed the question of whether an arbitration agreement preempted the provisions of the Berman hearings, allowing wage claimants to bring their claims before the Labor Commissioner in an informal process. The Court was required to address this issue a second time because its earlier decision in Sonic I was reversed by the Supreme Court in light of AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. 333 (Concepcion).

This Court need only apply its careful and extended analysis in *Sonic*II to find the Arbitration Agreement at issue in this case unconscionable.

This Court concluded that California state courts could continue to enforce unconscionability rules with respect to arbitration agreements that eliminate the Berman process.

In Sonic II, the Court emphasized the informality and employee-protective provisions of the Berman hearing. It did so while reaffirming that the state could create a procedural mechanism to enforce wage and hour laws that favored wage claimants. The Court initially summarized the "statutory protections [that] benefit employees with wage claims against their employers." (Sonic II, supra, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 1127-1128.)

The Court described, in great detail, those protections and benefits available to employees in the Berman statutes. (*Sonic II*, *supra*, 57 Cal.4th at pp. 1127-1130.) The Court summarized these advantages as follows:

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