IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

OTO, LLC an Arizona Limited Liability Company, dba

ONE TOYOTA OF OAKLAND, ONE SCION OF OAKLAND SUPREME COURT

Petitioner and Respondent,

JUN 1 2018

v.

KEN KHO

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Appellant and Real Party in Interest,

Deputy

JULIE A. SU IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA LABOR COMMISSIONER, DIVISION OF LABOR STANDARDS ENFORCEMENT, DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Intervenor and Appellant.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 1 CASE No. A147564

Appeal from the Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG15781961 The Honorable Evelio Grillo, Judge

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

(b) The inquiry in such a case shall extend to the questions whether the respondent has proceeded without, or in excess of, jurisdiction; whether there was a fair trial; and whether there was any prejudicial abuse of discretion. Abuse of discretion is established if the respondent has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence.

(Code Civ. Proc. § 1094.5(b) (emphasis added).)

A. The trial court properly held that the Labor Commissioner violated the right of OTO to a fair hearing.

The Commissioner's first argument—that the trial court erred because the Labor Commissioner had jurisdiction to conduct a Berman hearing pursuant to Labor Code section 98(a) (see Commissioner's Brief at p. 46)—presents a classic "red herring" in its failure to address any perceived error in the Superior Court's order. The Superior Court did not base its order on lack of jurisdiction. Rather, the court correctly determined

that the Berman hearing conducted by the Labor Commissioner in this case violated OTO's right to a fair hearing.

Parties to administrative proceedings, such as the Labor Commissioner's Berman hearing process, enjoy the protection of procedural due process. (Nightlife Partners v. City of Beverly Hills (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 81, 90.) As described by the court in Nightlife Partners:

The protections of procedural due process apply to administrative proceedings (Richardson v. Perales (1971) 402 U.S. 389, 401, 91 S.Ct. 1420, 1427, 28 L.Ed.2d 842); the question is simply what process is due in a given circumstance. (Morrissey v. Brewer (1972) 408 U.S. 471, 481, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 2600, 33 L.Ed.2d 484; see Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co. (1982) 455 U.S. 422, 428–429, 102 S.Ct. 1148, 1153–1154, 71 L.Ed.2d 265.) Due process, however, always requires a relatively level playing field, the "constitutional floor" of a "fair trial in a fair tribunal," in other words, a fair hearing before a neutral or unbiased decision-maker. (Bracy v. Gramley (1997) 520 U.S. 899, 904–905, 117 S.Ct. 1793, 1797, 138 L.Ed.2d 97; Withrow v. Larkin (1975) 421 U.S. 35, 46, 95 S.Ct. 1456, 1464, 43 L.Ed.2d 712.)

(Id., Cal.App.4th at 90 (italics in original).) The "fair trial" requirement of section 1094.5(b) simply requires a "fair administrative hearing" (*ibid.*), which affords the party a "'reasonable opportunity to be heard."'" (Pinheiro v. Civil Service Commission for the County of Fresno (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 1458, 1463; Rodriguez v. Department of Real Estate (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 1289, 1297; Pinsker v. Pacific Coast Society of Orthodontists (1974) 12 Cal.3d 541, 555.)

In the present case the superior court correctly ruled that "enforcing the ODA would violate the right of [OTO] to a fair administrative hearing" as mandated by Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5(b). (CT 204). There is no dispute that, prior to the Berman hearing, OTO provided notice of the existence of the arbitration agreement signed by Kho and of the filing

of the Petition to Compel Arbitration. (CT 204; CT 172-73). Noting that under <u>Sonic II</u> "it is clear that employers are not required to participate in a Berman hearing prior to arbitration if there is an enforceable arbitration agreement," the superior court determined that OTO "was substantially justified in refusing to participate in the hearing" in reliance on the arbitration agreement. (CT 204).

The superior court's order made no reference to the Labor Commissioner's jurisdiction over Berman hearings. Moreover, it is not disputed that Labor Code section 98 grants the Labor Commissioner authority to conduct Berman hearings on wage claims. However, such administrative hearings must comport with the "fair trial" requirement of Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5(b) discussed above. As the Berman hearing in this case proceeded without regard to OTO's objection based on the arbitration agreement signed by Kho, and under the threat by the Labor Commissioner that the Petitioner will waive its right to arbitration by going through the Berman process, the superior court properly vacated the ODA and remanded to the Labor Commissioner for further proceedings. The Labor Commissioner created the proverbial "catch-22" by proceeding with the Berman Hearing and arguing that the right to arbitration is waived if the Respondent participates. The Labor Commissioner's own position caused the unfairness by prohibiting the Respondent from participating in the Berman process without risking waiver or waiting for the Superior Court to decide the arbitration issue just shortly after.

B. The trial court properly remanded the case for further administrative proceedings.

In her second argument, the Labor Commissioner contends that upon the perfection of an appeal to the superior court pursuant to Labor Code section 98.2 the ODA was nullified and jurisdiction was properly vested in the trial court, and that the trial court lacked authority to remand the case back to the Labor Commissioner. (Commissioner's Brief p. 48.) Stated differently, the Commissioner argues that the procedural fairness of a Berman hearing cannot be reviewed once a *de novo* appeal is filed.

Labor Code section 98.2(a) provides, in relevant part: "Within 10 days after service of notice of an order, decision, or award the parties may seek review by filing an appeal to the superior court, where the appeal shall be heard de novo." Although labeled an appeal, a trial *de novo* "is 'a trial anew in the fullest sense,' in which the administrative decision is entitled to no weight whatsoever, and the parties may present entirely new evidence to the trial court." (Eicher v. Advanced Business Integrators, Inc. (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1363, 1381.) Since the trial court reviews the matter *de novo*, the Labor Commissioner's *factual findings* and determinations in the ODA are not subject to review by administrative mandate under the Administrative Procedures Act or under subdivision (a) of Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5. (*See Corrales v. Bradstreet* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 33, 54–55.)

However, the Commissioner has cited no authority—and OTO is unaware of the existence of any relevant authority—which holds that the "fair trial" component of Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5(b) cannot be reviewed by the trial court. Such a rule would lead to the absurd result

that the Labor Commissioner could deny an employer any modicum of a fair hearing without fear of review by the trial court.

Such a result is clearly counter to the statutory framework since, notwithstanding the contrary claims of the Labor Commissioner, the issuance of an ODA has consequences that survive the timely filing of an appeal by the employer. As recognized by the Supreme Court in <u>Sonic II</u>, the following consequences survive the *de novo* appeal:

• The employer must post an undertaking: "If an employer appeals the Labor Commissioner's award, "[a]s a condition to filing an appeal pursuant to this section, an employer shall first post an undertaking with the reviewing court in the amount of the order, decision, or award. The undertaking shall consist of an appeal bond issued by a licensed surety or a cash deposit with the court in the amount of the order, decision, or award." (§ 98.2, subd. (b).)"

(Sonic II, supra, 57 Cal.4th at 1129 [quoting Sonic I].)

• An unsuccessful appellant is subject to an attorney fee award: "Under section 98.2, subdivision (c), "If the party seeking review by filing an appeal to the superior court is unsuccessful in the appeal, the court shall determine the costs and reasonable attorney's fees incurred by the other parties to the appeal, and assess that amount as a cost upon the party filing the appeal. An employee is successful if the court awards an amount greater than zero." This provision thereby establishes a one-way fee-shifting scheme, whereby unsuccessful appellants pay attorney fees while successful appellants may not obtain such fees. [Citation.] This is in contrast to section 218.5, which provides that in civil actions for nonpayment of wages initiated in the superior court, the "prevailing party" may obtain attorney fees."

(Id., [quoting Sonic I].)

• Representation of the Employee by the Labor Commissioner: "'Furthermore, the Labor Commissioner "may" upon request represent a claimant "financially unable to afford counsel" in the de novo proceeding and "shall"

represent the claimant if he or she is attempting to uphold the Labor Commissioner's award and is not objecting to the Commissioner's final order. (§ 98.4.) Such claimants represented by the Labor Commissioner may still collect attorney fees pursuant to section 98.2, although such claimants have not, strictly speaking, incurred attorneys fees, because construction of the statute in this manner is consistent with the statute's goals of discouraging unmeritorious appeals of wage claims. [Citation.]'

(<u>Id.</u>, [quoting Sonic I].)

In light of these lasting consequences of the ODA, OTO's filing of a *de novo* appeal did not nullify the effects of the improperly issued ODA. The trial court's order vacating the ODA and remanding to the Labor Commissioner for further proceedings should therefore be affirmed.

C. OTO did not "waive" its right to challenge the procedural fairness of the Berman hearing conducted by the Labor Commissioner.

The Labor Commissioner at one point below argued that OTO had waived its right to compel arbitration entirely. (CT 99-106.) Perhaps given the reality that this argument was entirely unavailing in light of the high bar for a finding of waiver in Saint Agnes Medical Center v. PacifiCare of California ((2003) 31 Cal.4th 1187), this argument was abandoned; nowhere in their briefs here do Appellants try to argue that OTO waived its right to compel arbitration. Instead, the Labor Commissioner suggests—without outright invoking waiver doctrine—that OTO waived its right to enforce the appropriate Berman hearing procedures by its delay in filing a petition to compel arbitration. (Commissioner's Brief pp. 49.) She argues that because OTO was on notice for approximately 10 months that the Berman procedure was in play, and because OTO petition to compel arbitration and stay proceedings only one court day prior to the Berman hearing, it is not entitled to the benefit of the Berman hearing waiver

contained in its arbitration agreement. (Commissioner's Brief pp. 47.) However, as the brief fails to cite any relevant statutory or appellate authority for the proposition that OTO somehow waived its right to due process in the Berman hearing proceedings, the argument should be rejected. (Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control v. Alcoholic Beverage Control Appeals Bd. (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1078 ["Mere suggestions of error without supporting argument or authority other than general abstract principles do not properly present grounds for appellate review"].)

To argue that because OTO waited a certain period of time, it is no longer entitled to the Berman waiver it contracted for and which is enforceable under <u>Sonic II</u> is to argue waiver in essence. One cannot mistake that this is the argument the Labor Commissioner makes when she says that, even if the Court disagrees with her and finds the Berman waiver enforceable, the ODA should still stand. (Commissioner's Brief at 50.)

But this argument, even disguised as something else, is still unavailing. California law, like the Federal Arbitration Act, "reflects a strong policy favoring arbitration agreements and requires close judicial scrutiny of waiver claims." (Saint Agnes, supra, 31 Cal.4th at 1195.) Where the existence and enforceability of an arbitration agreement are not at issue and there are no related, pending court proceedings of third parties, the only remaining defense to enforcement is waiver by the petitioning party. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1281.2.) However, the party opposing arbitration bears the burden of proving waiver by a preponderance of evidence. (See Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn, supra, 55 Cal.4th at 236; Engalla v. Permanente Medical Group, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal.4th 951, 972.) "Although a court may deny a petition to compel arbitration on the

ground of waiver, waivers are not to be lightly inferred and the party seeking to establish a waiver bears a heavy burden of proof." (Saint Agnes, supra, 31 Cal.4th at 1195, emphasis added.)

The California Supreme Court has identified six factors relevant to assessing waiver of arbitration agreements in the <u>Saint Agnes</u> decision. However, the <u>Saint Agnes</u> decision and elements relate exclusively to judicial litigation, not to administrative proceedings such as Berman hearings:

In determining waiver, a court can consider (1) whether the party's actions are inconsistent with the right to arbitrate; (2) whether the litigation machinery has been substantially invoked and the parties were well into preparation of a lawsuit before the party notified the opposing party of an intent to arbitrate; (3) whether a party either requested arbitration enforcement close to the trial date or delayed for a long period before seeking a stay; (4) whether a defendant seeking arbitration filed a counterclaim without asking for a stay of the proceedings; (5) whether important intervening steps [e.g., taking advantage of judicial discovery procedures not available in arbitration] had taken place; and (6) whether the delay affected, misled, or prejudiced the opposing party.

(Saint Agnes, supra, 31 Cal.4th at 1196, emphasis added, internal citations omitted.) Given that there was no pending "litigation," "lawsuit," or "trial date" prior to the filing of the Petition to Compel, Kho and the Labor Commissioner simply cannot establish any of the elements for waiver of arbitration. A settlement negotiation—such as that which both parties admit occurred prior to the filing of the petition to compel and the DLSE hearing—is not litigation. (CT 110). Administrative proceedings are not aspects of litigation machinery. A Berman hearing is not a trial date. No authority supporting the notion that these factors of waiver of arbitration agreements are somehow applicable to the Berman process.

The California Supreme Court was unequivocal in its recent holding that it is the Labor Commissioner's jurisdiction which must make way for arbitration because it interferes with the expeditious nature of arbitration, not that arbitration must wait until after the Labor Commissioner has conducted a full hearing. (See Sonic II, supra, 57 Cal.4th at 1141-42.)

In fact, the evidence before this Court reveals that OTO has acted at all times consistently with its intent to arbitrate. In response to the Petition, Kho did not contest the existence of the arbitration agreement to avoid arbitration of his claim. (CT 109). What then is Kho's supposed evidence that OTO has knowingly waived its right to arbitration? Kho filed an administrative complaint with the DLSE in late 2014. Admittedly, both parties attempted for a lengthy period to settle the case. However, once it became clear that no settlement would be reached and that Kho would be pursuing claims through the Berman process, OTO petitioned the Superior Court to obtain an order requiring arbitration and reached out to the Labor Commissioner to inform it that due to the arbitration agreement, it had no jurisdiction in this matter. (CT 124, 144.) Not only has OTO not waived its right to arbitration, it has demanded that Kho comply with his arbitration obligation at all times since Kho made it clear that he sought to pursue employment related claims.

The Court of Appeal's decision in Gloster v. Sonic Automotive, Inc. ((2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 438, 442) is instructive. In Gloster, the defendant employer demanded that the plaintiff arbitrate his claims but did not actually file a petition to compel arbitration until one year after the filing of the complaint. (Id. at 442.) The trial court determined that the defendant had waived its right to arbitration. (Id. at 444.) After reviewing the Saint Agnes standard for waiver, the Court of Appeal explained why the

defendant's admittedly lengthy delay in seeking an order compelling arbitration was not a waiver:

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